ALCOA INC. Form PRE 14A July 27, 2016 Table of Contents

### **UNITED STATES**

#### SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

### **SCHEDULE 14A**

### Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

#### **Securities Exchange Act of 1934**

Filed by the Registrant x

Filed by a party other than the Registrant "

Check the appropriate box:

- x Preliminary Proxy Statement
- " Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- " Definitive Proxy Statement
- " Definitive Additional Materials
- " Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

## ALCOA INC.

#### (Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

#### (Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

#### Table of Contents

- x No fee required.
- " Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
  - (1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
  - (2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
  - (3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
  - (4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
  - (5) Total fee paid:
- " Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
- " Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
  - (1) Amount previously paid:
  - (2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
  - (3) Filing party:

(4) Date Filed:

## [ ], 2016

Dear Alcoa Shareholders:

You are cordially invited to attend a Special Meeting of Shareholders of Alcoa Inc. ( Alcoa ) to be held on Wednesday, October 5, 2016, at 10:00 a.m., local time, at the offices of Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz, 51 West 52nd Street, New York, New York 10019.

At the special meeting, we will ask you to consider and vote on a proposal to authorize Alcoa s Board of Directors to effect a reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of Alcoa common stock, at a reverse stock split ratio of 1-for-3; and a proposal to adopt a corresponding amendment to Alcoa s Articles of Incorporation to effect the reverse stock split and to reduce proportionately the total number of shares of Alcoa common stock that Alcoa is authorized to issue.

The proxy statement attached to this letter provides you with information about the proposed reverse stock split and amendment. Please read the entire proxy statement carefully. You may obtain additional information about Alcoa from documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting in person, please complete, sign, date and return promptly the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form. If you hold shares through a bank, broker or other nominee, you should follow the procedures provided by your bank, broker or nominee to provide voting instructions. You can revoke your proxy at any time before the special meeting and provide a new proxy as you deem appropriate. Only your latest dated proxy will count. If you decide to attend the special meeting and wish to change your proxy vote, you may do so by voting in person at the special meeting.

Your vote is very important. We look forward to seeing you on Wednesday, October 5, 2016.

Sincerely,

## **Klaus Kleinfeld**

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

## NOTICE OF 2016 SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS AND PROXY STATEMENT

The Special Meeting of Shareholders of Alcoa Inc. (Alcoa) will be held at the offices of Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz, 51 West 52nd Street, New York, New York 10019 on October 5, 2016, at 10:00 a.m., local time. Holders of record of Alcoa common stock at the close of business on August 3, 2016, the record date for the special meeting (the record date), are entitled to vote at the special meeting.

The special meeting will be held for the following purposes:

- 1. to vote on a proposal to authorize Alcoa s Board of Directors to effect a reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of Alcoa common stock, at a reverse stock split ratio of 1-for-3;
- 2. to vote on a proposal to adopt a corresponding amendment to Alcoa s Articles of Incorporation to effect the reverse stock split and to reduce proportionately the total number of shares of Alcoa common stock that Alcoa is authorized to issue; and
- 3. to transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

You will need an admission ticket if you plan to attend the meeting. Please see the questions and answers section of the proxy statement for instructions on how to obtain an admission ticket.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting in person, please vote by completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form as soon as possible to ensure your representation at the special meeting. Promptly voting your shares will ensure a quorum and save Alcoa the expense of further solicitation. A proxy may be revoked at any time before the special meeting.

On behalf of Alcoa s Board of Directors,

#### **Audrey Strauss**

Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

[ ], 2016

#### 390 Park Avenue

#### New York, NY 10022-4608

## IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR

### THE SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON OCTOBER 5, 2016

## The Notice of Special Meeting and Proxy Statement is available at

#### www.ReadMaterial.com/AA

The Board of Directors of Alcoa Inc. ( Alcoa ) is providing this proxy statement in connection with the Special Meeting of Shareholders to be held on October 5, 2016, at 10:00 a.m., local time, at the offices of Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz, 51 West 52nd Street, New York, New York 10019, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Proxy materials or a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the Notice ) are being first released to shareholders on or about [ ], 2016. In accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC ), instead of mailing a printed copy of the proxy materials to each shareholder of record, Alcoa may furnish proxy materials by providing access to those documents on the Internet. The Notice contains instructions on how to access our proxy materials and vote online, or in the alternative, request a paper copy of the proxy materials and a proxy card. Shareholders who do not receive the Notice will continue to receive either a paper or an electronic copy of our proxy materials.

## PROXY SUMMARY

We provide below highlights of certain information in this Proxy Statement. As it is only a summary, please refer to the complete Proxy Statement before you vote.

## 2016 SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Time and Date:	10:00 a.m., local time, October 5, 2016		
Place:	Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz, 51 West 52nd Street, New York, New York 10019		
<b>Record Date:</b>	August 3, 2016		
Voting:	Shareholders as of the record date are entitled to vote. Each share of Alcoa common stock is entitled to one vote for each of the proposals to be voted on.		
Admission:	An admission ticket is required to enter Alcoa s special meeting. See Question 5 in the <i>Questions and Answers About the Special Meeting and Voting</i> section regarding how to obtain a ticket.		

#### How to Cast Your Vote

Your vote is important! Please cast your vote.

Shareholders of record, who hold shares registered in their names, can vote by:

Internet at	calling 1-888-693-8683	mail
www.cesvote.com	toll-free from the	return the signed

U.S. or Canada

proxy card

The deadline for voting online or by telephone is 6:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on October 5, 2016. If you vote by mail, your proxy card must be received before the special meeting. If you hold shares in an Alcoa savings plan, your voting instructions must be received by 6:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on October 3, 2016.

Beneficial owners, who own shares through a bank, brokerage firm or other financial institution, can vote by returning the voting instruction form, or by following the instructions for voting via telephone or the Internet, as provided by the bank, broker or other organization. If you own shares in different accounts or in more than one name, you may receive different voting instructions for each type of ownership. Please vote all your shares.

If you are a shareholder of record or a beneficial owner who has a legal proxy to vote the shares, you may choose to vote in person at the special meeting. *Even if you plan to attend our special meeting in person, please cast your vote as soon as possible.* 

See the Questions and Answers About the Special Meeting and Voting section for more details.

## **Voting Matters and Board Recommendations**

Voting Matters		<b>Board s Recommendation</b>
Item 1.	A proposal to authorize Alcoa s Board of Directors to effect a reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of Alcoa common stock, at a reverse stock split ratio of 1-for-3.	FOR
Item 2.	A proposal to adopt a corresponding amendment to Alcoa s Articles of Incorporation to effect the reverse stock split and to reduce proportionately the total number of shares of Alcoa common stock that Alcoa is authorized to issue.	FOR

### PROXY STATEMENT

## FOR

### ALCOA INC.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABOUT THIS PROXY STATEMENT	1
Purpose	1
Recommendation of the Board of Directors	1
Questions and Answers About the Special Meeting and Voting	1
PROPOSALS	6
The Proposals	6
Reasons for the Reverse Stock Split	6
Reasons for the Authorized Share Count Reduction	7
Effective Time	7
Certain Risks Associated with the Reverse Stock Split	8
Fractional Shares	8
Effects of the Reverse Stock Split	8
<u>General</u>	8
Effect on Preferred Stock and Convertible Notes	9
<u>Effect on Dividends</u>	9
<u>Potential Anti-Takeover Effect</u>	9
<u>Reduction in Stated Capital</u>	10
Effect on Equity Compensation	10
Shares Held in Book-Entry and Through a Bank, Broker or Other Nominee	10
Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon	11
Reservation of Right to Delay the Filing of, or Abandon, the Reverse Stock Split and Articles of Amendment	11
Vote Required	11
No Appraisal Rights	11
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Reverse Stock Split	11
STOCK OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS	13
STOCK OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	14
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	16
OTHER BUSINESS	16
SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS AND NOMINATIONS OF DIRECTOR CANDIDATES	16
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	17
ANNEX A Articles of Amendment for a 1-for-3 Reverse Stock Split	A-1

#### 390 Park Avenue

#### New York, NY 10022-4608

## ABOUT THIS PROXY STATEMENT

#### Purpose

This proxy statement is being furnished by Alcoa Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation ( Alcoa ), in connection with the solicitation by Alcoa s Board of Directors of proxies to be voted at our special meeting of shareholders to be held on October 5, 2016, at 10:00 a.m., local time, at the offices of Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz, 51 West 52nd Street, New York, New York 10019, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. The holders of record of Alcoa common stock, par value \$1.00 per share ( common stock ), as of the close of business on August 3, 2016, the record date for the special meeting, will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting and any adjournment or postponements thereof. As of the record date, there were [ ] shares of our common stock issued, outstanding and entitled to vote. Each share of our common stock is entitled to one vote on any matter presented at the special meeting.

The special meeting will be held for the following purposes:

- 1. to vote on a proposal to authorize Alcoa s Board of Directors to effect a reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of Alcoa common stock, at a reverse stock split ratio of 1-for-3 (the Reverse Stock Split );
- to vote on a proposal to adopt a corresponding amendment (the Articles of Amendment ) to Alcoa s Articles of Incorporation (the Articles of Incorporation ) to effect the Reverse Stock Split and to reduce proportionately the total number of shares of Alcoa common stock that Alcoa is authorized to issue (the Authorized Share Count Reduction ); and
- 3. to transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

If our shareholders authorize the Reverse Stock Split and adopt the Articles of Amendment, and Alcoa implements them, the Reverse Stock Split and Authorized Share Count Reduction will become effective upon the filing of the Articles of Amendment in the Pennsylvania Department of State. Even if shareholders authorize the Reverse Stock Split and Authorized Share Count Reduction, and adopt the Articles of Amendment, Alcoa may delay the filing of the Articles of Amendment or abandon the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction if the Board of Directors determines that such action is in the best interests of Alcoa and our shareholders.

#### **Recommendation of the Board of Directors**

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote **FOR** the authorization of the Reverse Stock Split and **FOR** the adoption of the Articles of Amendment.

## Table of Contents

## Questions and Answers About the Special Meeting and Voting

### 1. Who is entitled to vote and how many votes do I have?

If you were a holder of record of Alcoa common stock at the close of business on August 3, 2016, you are eligible to vote at the special meeting. For each matter presented for vote, you have one vote for each share you own.

# 2. What is the difference between holding shares as a shareholder of record/registered shareholder and as a beneficial owner of shares?

*Shareholder of Record or Registered Shareholder*. If your shares of common stock are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Computershare, you are considered a shareholder of record or a registered shareholder of those shares.

**Beneficial Owner of Shares.** If your shares are held in an account at a bank, brokerage firm or other similar organization, then you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street name. In that case, you will have received these proxy materials from the bank, brokerage firm or other similar organization holding your account and, as a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your bank, brokerage firm or similar organization as to how to vote the shares held in your account.

## 3. How do I vote if I am a shareholder of record?

*By Telephone or Internet*. All shareholders of record can vote by touchtone telephone within the U.S., U.S. territories and Canada, using the toll-free telephone number on the proxy card, or through the Internet, using the procedures and instructions described on the proxy card. The telephone and Internet voting procedures are designed to authenticate shareholders identities, to allow shareholders to vote their shares and to confirm that their instructions have been recorded properly.

**By Written Proxy**. All shareholders of record can also vote by written proxy card. If you are a shareholder of record and receive a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials ( Notice ), you may request a written proxy card by following the instructions included in the Notice. If you sign and return your proxy card but do not mark any selections giving specific voting instructions, your shares represented by that proxy will be voted as recommended by the Board of Directors.

*In Person*. All shareholders of record may vote in person at the meeting. See Question 5 below regarding how to obtain an admission ticket to attend the special meeting.

If no contrary instruction is indicated on your proxy, the proxy committee will vote the shares **FOR** the Reverse Stock Split and **FOR** the Articles of Amendment.

Whether you plan to attend the meeting or not, we encourage you to vote by proxy as soon as possible. The proxy committee will vote your shares according to your directions.

## 4. How do I vote if I am a beneficial owner of shares?

If you are a beneficial owner of shares of common stock, you can vote by completing and returning the voting instruction form from your broker, bank or other financial institution or following the instructions provided to you for voting your shares via telephone or the Internet. If you wish to vote your shares at the meeting, you must obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank or other financial institution and bring it with you to hand in with your ballot. See Question 5 below regarding how to obtain an admission ticket to the special meeting.

## 5. How do I get an admission ticket to attend the special meeting?

You may attend the meeting if you were a shareholder as of the close of business on August 3, 2016. If you plan to attend the meeting, you will need an admission ticket. If you are a registered shareholder, have your Notice available and call 1-866-804-9594 or visit *www.AlcoaAdmissionTicket.com* and follow the instructions provided. If a broker, bank or other financial institution holds your shares and you would like to attend the meeting, please write to: Alcoa Inc., 201 Isabella Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15212-5858, Attention: Diane Thumma or email to *diane.thumma@alcoa.com*. Please include a copy of your brokerage account statement or a legal proxy (which you can obtain from your broker, bank or other financial institution), and we will send you an admission ticket.

## 6. What does it mean if I receive more than one Notice?

If you are a shareholder of record or participate in Alcoa s Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan or employee savings plans, you will receive one Notice (or if you are an employee with an Alcoa email address, an email proxy form) for all shares of common stock held in or credited to your accounts as of the record date, if the account names are exactly the same. If your shares are registered differently and are in more than one account, you will receive more than one Notice or email proxy form, and in that case, you can and are urged to vote all of your shares, which will require you to vote more than once. To avoid this situation in the future, we encourage you to have all accounts registered in the same name and address whenever possible. You can do this by contacting our transfer agent, Computershare, at 1-888-985-2058 (in the U.S. and Canada) or 1-201-680-6578 (all other locations) or through the Computershare website, www.computershare.com.

## 7. How do I vote if I participate in one of the employee savings plans?

You must provide the trustee of the employee savings plan with your voting instructions in advance of the meeting. You may do so by returning your voting instructions by mail, or submitting them by telephone or electronically using the Internet. You cannot vote your shares in person at the special meeting; the trustee is the only one who can vote your shares. The trustee will vote your shares as you have instructed. If the trustee does not receive your instructions, your shares generally will be voted in proportion to the way the other plan participants voted. To allow sufficient time for voting by the trustee, your voting instructions must be received by 6:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on October 3, 2016.

## 8. Can I change my vote?

There are several ways in which you may revoke your proxy or change your voting instructions before the time of voting at the meeting (please note that, in order to be counted, the revocation or change must be received by 6:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on October 5, 2016, or by 6:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on October 3, 2016 in the case of instructions to the trustee of an employee savings plan):

Vote again by telephone or at the Internet website.

Mail a revised proxy card or voting instruction form that is dated later than the prior one.

Shareholders of record may vote in person at the special meeting.

Shareholders of record may notify Alcoa s Corporate Secretary in writing that a prior proxy is revoked.

Employee savings plan participants may notify the plan trustee in writing that prior voting instructions are revoked or are changed.

#### 9. Is my vote confidential?

Yes. Proxy cards, ballots and voting tabulations that identify shareholders are kept confidential except:

as necessary to meet applicable legal requirements and to assert or defend claims for or against Alcoa;

in the case of a contested proxy solicitation;

if a shareholder makes a written comment on the proxy card or otherwise communicates his or her vote to management; or

to allow the independent judge of election to certify the results of the vote. Corporate Election Services, Inc., the independent proxy tabulator used by Alcoa, counts the votes and acts as the judge of election for the meeting.

## 10. What happens if I do not instruct my broker how to vote?

Under New York Stock Exchange ( NYSE ) rules, the proposals to authorize the Reverse Stock Split and adopt the Articles of Amendment are considered discretionary items. This means that brokerage firms may vote in their discretion on behalf of clients (beneficial owners) who have not furnished voting instructions at least 15 days before the date of the special meeting.

## 11. What constitutes a quorum for the special meeting?

A quorum consists of a majority of the outstanding shares, present at the meeting or represented by proxy. A quorum is necessary to conduct business at the special meeting. You are part of the quorum if you have voted by proxy. Abstentions and broker non-votes count as shares present at the meeting for purposes of determining a quorum.

### 12. What is the voting requirement to approve each of the proposals, and how are votes counted?

At the close of business on August 3, 2016, the record date for the meeting, Alcoa had outstanding [ ] shares of common stock. Each share of common stock outstanding on the record date is entitled to one vote for each of the proposals to be voted on.

Under Pennsylvania law, the authorization of the Reverse Stock Split and adoption of the Articles of Amendment require the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders entitled to vote thereon. Abstentions and broker non-votes are not considered votes cast on these proposals and therefore have no effect on the outcome of these proposals.

## 13. Who pays for the solicitation of proxies?

Alcoa pays the cost of soliciting proxies. Proxies will be solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors by mail, telephone, other electronic means or in person. We have retained Innisfree M&A Inc. (Innisfree), 501 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10022, to assist with the solicitation for an estimated fee of \$12,500, plus expenses. We will reimburse brokerage firms and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for sending proxy materials to shareholders and obtaining their votes.

## 14. What is householding ?

Shareholders of record who have the same last name and address and who request paper copies of the proxy materials will receive only one copy unless one or more of them notifies us that they wish to receive individual copies. This method of delivery, known as householding, will help ensure that shareholder households do not receive multiple copies of the same document, helping to reduce our printing and postage costs, as well as saving natural resources. Householding will not in any way affect dividend check mailings.

We will deliver promptly upon written or oral request a separate copy of the proxy statement or Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to a security holder at a shared address to which a single copy of the document was delivered. Please direct such requests to Diane Thumma at Alcoa Inc., 201 Isabella Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15212-5858, Attention: Diane Thumma, or email to *diane.thumma@alcoa.com* or call 1-412-553-1245.

Shareholders of record may request to begin or to discontinue householding in the future by contacting our transfer agent, Computershare, at 1-888-985-2058 (in the U.S. and Canada), 1-201-680-6578 (all other locations), by mail to Computershare, P.O. Box 30170, College Station, TX 77842-3170 or through the Computershare website, *www.computershare.com*. Shareholders owning their shares through a bank, broker or other nominee may request to begin or to discontinue householding by contacting their bank, broker or other nominee.

## 15. Who should I contact if I have any questions?

Shareholders with questions or who need assistance in voting their shares may call Innisfree toll-free at (877) 750-5836.

## PROPOSALS

## **The Proposals**

Alcoa is asking shareholders to:

- 1. authorize Alcoa s Board of Directors to effect a reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of Alcoa common stock, at a reverse stock split ratio of 1-for-3; and
- 2. adopt a corresponding amendment to the Articles of Incorporation in the form attached to this Proxy Statement as Annex A, to effect the Reverse Stock Split and to reduce proportionately the total number of shares of Alcoa common stock that Alcoa is authorized to issue.

If shareholders approve these proposals, the Board of Directors will cause the Articles of Amendment to be filed in the Pennsylvania Department of State and effect the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction only if the Board of Directors determines that the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction would be in the best interests of Alcoa and its shareholders. The Board of Directors also may determine in its discretion not to effect the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction and not to file the Articles of Amendment. Alcoa will not effect the Reverse Stock Split without also effecting the Authorized Share Count Reduction, and vice versa. No further action on the part of shareholders will be required to either implement or abandon the Reverse Stock Split or the Authorized Share Count Reduction.

The Authorized Share Count Reduction will result in a proportionate reduction of the total number of shares of Alcoa common stock that Alcoa is authorized to issue from 1,800,000,000 to 600,000,000.

All holders of Alcoa common stock will be affected proportionately by the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction.

No fractional shares of common stock will be issued as a result of the Reverse Stock Split. Instead, any shareholder who would have been entitled to receive a fractional share as a result of the Reverse Stock Split will receive cash payments in lieu of such fractional shares. Each common shareholder will hold the same percentage of the outstanding common stock immediately following the Reverse Stock Split as that shareholder did immediately prior to the Reverse Stock Split, except to the extent that the Reverse Stock Split results in shareholders receiving cash in lieu of fractional shares. The par value of our common stock will continue to be \$1.00 per share (see Effects of the Reverse Stock Split ).

As of [ ], 2016, [ ] shares of our common stock were issued and outstanding. Based on such number of shares of our common stock issued and outstanding, immediately following the completion of the Reverse Stock Split (and without giving any effect to the payment of cash in lieu of fractional shares), we will have issued and outstanding approximately [ ] common shares.

## **Reasons for the Reverse Stock Split**

The Board of Directors has determined that it is in the best interests of Alcoa and its shareholders to implement a reverse stock split in order to reduce the number of shares of common stock outstanding. Immediately following the completion of the Reverse Stock Split, the number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding will be reduced

## Table of Contents

proportionately based on the 1-for-3 split ratio.

In determining to seek authorization for the Reverse Stock Split, the Board of Directors considered that the implementation of a reverse stock split is likely to increase the trading price for Alcoa common stock as a result of the reduction in the number of shares outstanding. The Board of Directors considered the advice of its financial advisors that the increased trading price of Alcoa common stock that is expected as a result of the reverse stock split may improve marketability and liquidity of Alcoa common stock which may facilitate trading in Alcoa common stock.

For example, some investors may prefer to invest in stocks that trade at a per share price range more typical of companies listed on the NYSE and in-line with constituents of comparable indices, and certain institutional investors may be prohibited in their investment charters from purchasing stocks that trade below certain minimum price levels. Further, brokerage commissions paid by investors, as a percentage of a total transaction, tend to be higher for lower-priced stocks. An increased trading price for Alcoa common stock and, following the Separation Transaction, Arconic common stock as a result of a reverse stock split may help reduce these concerns.

In addition, the Board of Directors considered that Alcoa s previously announced separation into two independent, publicly-traded companies (the Separation Transaction ) is expected to result in a lower per share trading price for Alcoa common stock due to the distribution of shares of Alcoa Upstream Corporation (Alcoa Corporation ), a subsidiary of Alcoa that will include the five business units that today make up Alcoa s Global Primary Products Bauxite, Alumina, Aluminum, Cast Products and Energy and a Rolled Products business unit consisting of the rolling mill operations in Warrick, Indiana and Saudi Arabia, to Alcoa shareholders. Alcoa will be renamed Arconic Inc. (Arconic ) in connection with the Separation Transaction, and common shares of Alcoa Inc. will become common shares of Arconic Inc. Accordingly, an increase in the per-share trading price of Alcoa Inc. common shares resulting from the Reverse Stock Split may, after the Separation Transaction, improve marketability and liquidity, which may facilitate trading, in Arconic common shares.

Although the Board of Directors has determined to seek authorization for the Reverse Stock Split in part in connection with the Separation Transaction, the Reverse Stock Split is not a condition to the completion of the Separation Transaction Transaction is not a condition to the completion of the Reverse Stock Split. The Reverse Stock Split is expected to be completed prior to the completion of the Separation Transaction and regardless of whether the Separation Transaction is completed. In addition, the Separation Transaction is expected to be completed regardless of whether shareholders authorize the Reverse Stock Split and adopt the Articles of Amendment.

#### **Reasons for the Authorized Share Count Reduction**

As a matter of Pennsylvania law, implementation of the Reverse Stock Split does not require a change in the total number of shares of Alcoa common stock authorized under the Articles of Incorporation. In determining to recommend a change to the total number of shares of our common stock authorized under the Articles of Incorporation as part of the Articles of Amendment, the Board of Directors considered the number of shares that would be available for issuance if we did not reduce our total authorized shares of common stock from the current limit as compared to the number that would be available following a reduction that is proportionate to the 1-for-3 split ratio for the Reverse Stock Split. The Board of Directors also considered the potential for future stock issuances to raise capital, satisfy obligations under Alcoa s outstanding convertible securities, effect acquisitions and other transactions, and/or provide equity incentives to employees. The Board of Directors believes that the proportionate, 1-for-3 reduction contemplated by the Authorized Share Count Reduction is appropriate because it maintains the relative amount of common shares that Alcoa is authorized to issue as compared to the total amount currently outstanding.

## **Effective Time**

The effective time of the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction (the Effective Time ), if approved by shareholders and implemented by Alcoa, will be the date and time of the filing of the Articles of Amendment in the Pennsylvania Department of State.

If, at any time prior to the filing of the Articles of Amendment in the Pennsylvania Department of State, the Board of Directors, in its discretion, determines that it is in Alcoa s best interests and the best interests of Alcoa s shareholders to

delay the filing of the Articles of Amendment or abandon the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction, the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction may be delayed or abandoned, without any further action by our shareholders.

### Certain Risks Associated with the Reverse Stock Split

There can be no assurance that following the Reverse Stock Split, the trading price of Alcoa common stock will increase in proportion to the reduction in the number of shares of Alcoa common stock issued and outstanding as a result of the Reverse Stock Split or otherwise. The total market capitalization of Alcoa common stock after the Reverse Stock Split may be lower than the total market capitalization before the Reverse Stock Split, including for reasons unrelated to the Reverse Stock Split.

## **Fractional Shares**

Shareholders will not receive fractional shares of common stock in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. Instead, the transfer agent will aggregate all fractional shares and sell them as soon as practicable after the Effective Time at the then-prevailing prices on the open market, on behalf of those shareholders who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fractional share as a result of the Reverse Stock Split. We expect that the transfer agent will conduct the sale in an orderly fashion at a reasonable pace and that it may take several days to sell all of the aggregated fractional shares of our common stock. After the transfer agent s completion of such sale, shareholders who would have been entitled to a fractional share will instead receive a cash payment from the transfer agent in an amount equal to their respective pro rata shares of the total net proceeds of that sale.

No transaction costs will be assessed on shareholders for the cash payment in lieu of fractional shares. Shareholders will not be entitled to receive interest for the period of time between the Effective Time and the date payment is made for their fractional share interest. You should also be aware that, under the escheat laws of certain jurisdictions, sums due for fractional interests that are not timely claimed after the funds are made available may be required to be paid to the designated agent for each such jurisdiction. Thereafter, shareholders otherwise entitled to receive such funds may have to obtain the funds directly from the state to which they were paid.

If you believe that you may not hold sufficient shares of Alcoa common stock at the Effective Time to receive at least one share in the Reverse Stock Split and you want to continue to hold Alcoa common stock after the Reverse Stock Split, you may do so by either:

purchasing a sufficient number of shares of Alcoa common stock; or

if you have shares of Alcoa common stock in more than one account, consolidating your accounts; in each case, so that you hold a number of shares of our common stock in your account prior to the Reverse Stock Split that would entitle you to receive at least one share of common stock in the Reverse Stock Split. Shares of our common stock held in registered form and shares of our common stock held in street name (that is, through a bank, broker or other nominee) for the same shareholder will be considered held in separate accounts and will not be aggregated when effecting the Reverse Stock Split.

## Effects of the Reverse Stock Split

# General

If we determine, following the receipt of shareholder approval, to implement the Reverse Stock Split, the principal result will be to decrease the number of outstanding shares of our common stock based on the 1-for-3 split ratio. Our

# Table of Contents

common stock is currently registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ), and, accordingly, we are subject to the periodic reporting and other requirements of the Exchange Act. The Reverse Stock Split will not affect the registration of our common stock under the Exchange Act or the listing of our common stock on the NYSE. Following the Reverse Stock Split, we expect our common stock will continue to be listed on the NYSE under the symbol AA (until such time as it is changed to ARNC due to the renaming of Alcoa to Arconic in connection with the Separation Transaction), although it will be considered a new listing with a new CUSIP number.

Voting rights and other rights of the holders of our common stock will not be affected by the Reverse Stock Split, other than as a result of the treatment of fractional shares as described below. For example, a holder of 2.0% of the voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock immediately prior to the Effective Time will generally continue to hold 2.0% of the voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock immediately after the Reverse Stock Split. The number of shareholders of record will not be affected by the Reverse Stock Split, except to the extent that there are shareholders of record who receive cash in lieu of fractional shares and, as a result, cease to hold at least one share following the Reverse Stock Split.

If implemented, the Reverse Stock Split may increase the number of shareholders owning odd lots of less than 100 shares of our common stock. Odd lot shares may be more difficult to sell, and brokerage commissions and other costs of transactions in odd lots generally are proportionately higher than the costs of transactions in round lots of even multiples of 100 shares. We believe, however, that these potential negative effects are outweighed by the benefits of the Reverse Stock Split.

## Effect on Preferred Stock and Convertible Notes

Pursuant to our Articles of Incorporation, our capital stock consists of 660,000 shares of Serial Preferred Stock, par value \$100 per share, 10,000,000 shares of Class B Serial Preferred Stock, par value of \$1.00 per share, and 1,800,000,000 shares of common stock. The proposed Reverse Stock Split Amendment would not impact the total authorized number of shares of preferred stock or the par value of the preferred stock.

As of [ ], 2016, there were [ ] shares of Alcoa s Class A Preferred Stock (the Class A Preferred Stock ) outstanding. The Reverse Stock Split will have no effect on the number of shares of Class A Preferred Stock outstanding.

As of [ ], 2016, there were [ ] shares of Alcoa s Class B Preferred Stock (the Class B Preferred Stock ) outstanding. Under the terms of Class B Preferred Stock, the conversion rate will be adjusted on the date of the Effective Time to result in a reduction in the number of shares of common stock into which each share of such Class B Preferred Stock may be convertible that is proportionate to the 1-for-3 split ratio.

Under the terms of Alcoa s outstanding convertible notes due 2019 (the Convertible Notes ), the conversion rate will be adjusted on the date the common stock first trades on the NYSE reflecting the Reverse Stock Split to result in a reduction in the number of shares of common stock into which each such Convertible Note may be convertible that is proportionate to the 1-for-3 split ratio.

## Effect on Dividends

Under Pennsylvania law, holders of Alcoa common stock are only entitled to receive such dividends payable on our common stock as the Board of Directors may declare out of funds legally available for such payments. The Board of Directors reviews the appropriateness of the dividend on our common stock each quarter. The determination of the amount of future dividends on our common stock will depend on our future earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and other relevant factors. The Board of Directors may determine to reduce or eliminate our common stock dividend in the event of material future deteriorations in business conditions.

## Potential Anti-Takeover Effect

The Reverse Stock Split and Articles of Amendment are not being proposed in response to any effort of which we are aware to accumulate shares of Alcoa common stock or obtain control of Alcoa, nor are they part of a plan by

## Table of Contents

management to recommend a series of similar amendments to our Board of Directors and shareholders. The Board of Directors does not intend to use the Reverse Stock Split as a part of or as a first step in a going private transaction pursuant to Rule 13e-3 under the Exchange Act.

## **Reduction in Stated Capital**

Pursuant to the Reverse Stock Split, the par value of Alcoa common stock will remain \$1.00 per share. As a result of the Reverse Stock Split, at the Effective Time, the stated capital on Alcoa s balance sheet attributable to our common stock will be reduced in proportion to the size of the Reverse Stock Split, subject to a minor adjustment in respect of the treatment of fractional shares, and the additional paid-in capital account will be credited with the amount by which the stated capital is reduced. Our shareholders equity, in the aggregate, will remain unchanged.

## Effect on Equity Compensation

As of [ ], 2016, approximately [ ] stock options, [ ] time-based restricted stock units, [ 1 performance-based restricted stock units and [ ] deferred share units were outstanding under the equity compensation and deferred compensation plans maintained by Alcoa. If the Reverse Stock Split occurs, we expect that the number of shares of Alcoa common stock underlying all outstanding equity awards will be adjusted by the applicable plan administrator to reflect a reduction that is proportionate to the 1-for-3 split ratio. In addition, the per share exercise price for each outstanding stock option would be increased proportionally such that the aggregate exercise price payable by the holder to Alcoa for the shares subject to the option would remain approximately the same as, and no less than, the aggregate exercise price prior to the Reverse Stock Split. In connection with the Reverse Stock Split, the applicable equity compensation plan administrator will implement certain technical, conforming changes to the equity compensation plans, including ratably reducing the authorized number of shares of Alcoa common stock available for awards under the equity compensation plans to reflect the 1-for-3 split ratio.

## Shares Held in Book-Entry and Through a Bank, Broker or Other Nominee

The combination of, and reduction in, the number of our outstanding shares of common stock as a result of the Reverse Stock Split will occur automatically at the Effective Time without any additional action on the part of our shareholders.

Upon the Reverse Stock Split, we intend to treat shareholders holding shares of Alcoa common stock in street name (that is, through a bank, broker or other nominee) in the same manner as registered shareholders whose shares of Alcoa common stock are registered in their names. Banks, brokers or other nominees will be instructed to effect the reverse stock split for their beneficial holders holding shares of our common stock in street name ; however, these banks, brokers or other nominees may apply their own specific procedures for processing the Reverse Stock Split. If you hold your shares of Alcoa common stock with a bank, broker or other nominee, and you have any questions in this regard, we encourage you to contact your nominee.

If you hold registered shares of our common stock in a book-entry form, you do not need to take any action to receive your post-Reverse Stock Split shares of our common stock in registered book-entry form or your cash payment in lieu of fractional shares, if applicable. If you are entitled to post-Reverse Stock Split shares of our common stock, a transaction statement will automatically be sent to your address of record as soon as practicable after the Effective Time indicating the number of shares of our common stock you hold. In addition, if you are entitled to a payment of cash in lieu of fractional shares, a check will be mailed to you at your registered address as soon as practicable after the Effective Time. By signing and cashing this check, you will warrant that you owned the shares of Alcoa common stock for which you received a cash payment. See Fractional Shares.

If you hold any of your shares of our common stock in certificate form, you will receive a transmittal letter from our transfer agent as soon as practicable after the Effective Time. The transmittal letter will be accompanied by instructions specifying how you can exchange your certificate representing the pre-Reverse Stock Split shares of our

common stock for either: (1) a certificate representing the post-Reverse Stock Split shares of our common stock or (2) post-Reverse Stock Split shares of our common stock in a book-entry form, evidenced by a

transaction statement that will be sent to your address of record as soon as practicable after the Effective Time indicating the number of shares of our common stock you hold, in each case together with any payment of cash in lieu of fractional shares to which you are entitled. Beginning on the effective date of the reverse stock split, each certificate representing pre-Reverse Stock Split shares of our common stock will be deemed for all corporate purposes to evidence ownership of post-Reverse Stock Split shares. If you are entitled to a payment of cash in lieu of fractional shares, payment will be made as described under Fractional Shares.

# Shareholders should not destroy any share certificate(s) and should not submit any share certificate(s) until requested to do so.

### Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon

No officer or director has any substantial interest, direct or indirect, by security holdings or otherwise, in the Reverse Stock Split or the Articles of Amendment that is not shared by all of our other shareholders.

### Reservation of Right to Delay the Filing of, or Abandon, the Reverse Stock Split and Articles of Amendment

Alcoa reserves the right to delay the filing of the Articles of Amendment or abandon the Reverse Stock Split and the Authorized Share Count Reduction at any time before the Effective Time, even if the Reverse Stock Split and the Articles of Amendment have been approved by shareholders at the special meeting. By voting in favor of the Reverse Stock Split and the Articles of Amendment, you are also expressly authorizing the Board of Directors to delay, until December 31, 2016, or abandon the Reverse Stock Split and the Articles of Amendment in the best interests of Alcoa and our shareholders.

## **Vote Required**

At the close of business on August 3, 2016, the record date for the meeting, Alcoa had outstanding [ ] shares of common stock. Each share of common stock outstanding on the record date is entitled to one vote for each of the proposals to be voted on.

Under Pennsylvania law, the authorization of the Reverse Stock Split and adoption of the Articles of Amendment require the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders entitled to vote thereon. Abstentions and broker non-votes are not considered votes cast on these proposals and therefore have no effect on the outcome of these proposals.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote **FOR** the authorization of the Reverse Stock Split and **FOR** the adoption of the Articles of Amendment.

#### **No Appraisal Rights**

Under Pennsylvania law, the Articles of Incorporation and Alcoa s By-laws, shareholders have no rights to exercise dissenters rights of appraisal with respect to the Reverse Stock Split or the Articles of Amendment.

#### Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Reverse Stock Split

The following discussion is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Reverse Stock Split to U.S. Holders (as defined below) of Alcoa common stock. This discussion is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code ), final, temporary or proposed U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated

## Table of Contents

thereunder, administrative pronouncements and judicial decisions, all as in effect on the date hereof, and all of which are subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect) and to differing interpretations. Any such change could affect the accuracy of the statements and conclusions set forth in this discussion.

For purposes of this discussion, a U.S. Holder means a beneficial owner of our common stock that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes: (i) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, or the District of Columbia, (iii) an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust if (A) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (B) it has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

If an entity or arrangement that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds our common stock, the tax treatment of a partner in such partnership generally will depend on the status of the partners and the activities of the partnership. Partners in partnerships holding our common stock should consult their tax advisors.

This discussion applies only to U.S. Holders that hold their shares of our common stock as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, property held for investment). This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to holders in light of their particular circumstances or to holders who may be subject to special tax treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws (including, for example, holders who are dealers in securities or foreign currency, foreign persons, insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, banks, financial institutions, broker-dealers, holders who hold our common stock as part of a hedge, straddle, conversion or other risk reduction transaction, partnerships or other flow-through entities and their partners or members, U.S. expatriates, holders liable for the alternative minimum tax, holders whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, or holders who acquired our common stock pursuant to the exercise of compensatory stock options, the vesting of previously restricted shares of stock or otherwise as compensation). This summary does not address tax considerations under state, local, foreign, and other laws, nor does it address any U.S. federal tax considerations other than those pertaining to the U.S. income tax.

We have not sought, and will not seek, an opinion of counsel or a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regarding the federal income tax consequences of the Reverse Stock Split. EACH HOLDER OF OUR COMMON STOCK SHOULD CONSULT ITS TAX ADVISOR WITH RESPECT TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE REVERSE STOCK SPLIT TO SUCH HOLDER.

The Reverse Stock Split is intended to be treated as a recapitalization for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Assuming the Reverse Stock Split qualifies as a recapitalization,

a U.S. Holder generally will not recognize gain or loss on the Reverse Stock Split;

the aggregate tax basis of the shares of our common stock received in the Reverse Stock Split will be equal to the aggregate tax basis of the shares exchanged therefor (excluding any portion of such basis allocated to a fractional share); and

the holding period of the shares of our common stock received in the Reverse Stock Split will include the holding period of the shares exchanged therefor.

## STOCK OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following shareholders reported to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission that they beneficially owned more than 5% of Alcoa common stock as of the date indicated.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Title of Class	Amount and Nature of Repeticial Ownership	Demonstrage of Class
The Vanguard Group	The of Class	Beneficial Ownership	Percentage of Class
100 Vanguard Boulevard			
Malvern, PA 19355	Common Stock	110,978,2481	8.47%
BlackRock, Inc.	Common Stock	110,978,248	0.77/0
55 East 52 <sup>nd</sup> Street			
New York, NY 10022	Common Stock	86,472,304 <sup>2</sup>	6.6%
Elliott Associates, L.P.			
40 West 57 <sup>th</sup> Street			
New York, NY 10019			
Elliott International, L.P.			
c/o Maples & Calder			
P.O. Box 309			
Ugland House, South Church Street			
George Town			
Cayman Islands, British West Indies			
Elliott International Capital Advisors Inc.			
40 West 57 <sup>th</sup> Street			
New York, NY 10019	Common Stock	86,200,000 <sup>3</sup>	6.6%

- 1 As of December 31, 2015, as reported in a Schedule 13G amendment dated February 10, 2016. The Vanguard Group, an investment adviser, reported that it had sole power to vote 2,409,360 shares, sole power to dispose of 108,410,968 shares, shared power to vote 134,064 of the reported shares, and shared power to dispose of 2,567,280 shares.
- As of December 31, 2015, as reported in a Schedule 13G amendment dated February 10, 2016. BlackRock Inc., a parent holding company, reported that it had sole power to vote 73,979,475 shares, sole power to dispose of 86,354,096 shares, and shared power to vote and dispose of 118,208 shares.
- 3 As of December 31, 2015, as reported in a Schedule 13D amendment dated February 1, 2016: Elliott Associates L.P. had sole power to vote and dispose of 28,532,000 shares; Elliott International, L.P. had shared power to vote and dispose of 57,668,000 shares; and Elliott International Capital Advisors Inc. had shared power to vote and dispose of 57,668,000 shares. In addition, these Elliott entities collectively had economic exposure comparable to approximately 0.9% of the shares of common stock outstanding pursuant to certain derivative agreements disclosed in the Schedule 13D amendment.

## STOCK OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table shows the ownership of Alcoa common stock, as of July 15, 2016, by each director, each of the named executive officers, and all directors and executive officers (serving as of July 15, 2016) as a group.

To satisfy Alcoa s stock ownership requirements, directors must either invest in Alcoa deferred share units under Alcoa s 2005 Deferred Fee Plan for Directors or purchase shares in the open market. Deferred share units provide directors with the same economic interest as if they own Alcoa common stock. The deferred share units track the performance of our common stock and accrue dividend equivalents that are equal in value to dividends paid on our common stock.

Name of Beneficial Owner

Shares of Common Stock<sup>1</sup>